FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
10/28/2022 4:03 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

101413-9 NO. 55498-4-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SANDRA EHRHART, individually and as personal representative of the Estate of Brian Ehrhart,

Petitioner,

v.

KING COUNTY, operating through its health department, Public Health - Seattle & King County,
Respondent.

SANDRA EHRHART'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

I. INTRODUCTION

Seeking answers in the wake of her husband's death, Ms. Ehrhart requested documents under Washington's Public Records Act. Some were produced, and, it turned out, hundreds were silently withheld—especially the unflattering ones. This was both unknown, and unknowable, to Ms. Ehrhart. She did not learn about the hidden documents until receiving belated responses to discovery in a tort case just over a year later. Based on a body of law developed in Division II—which is antithetical to the legislature's "strongly worded mandate," *Hearst Corp. v. Hoppe*, 90 Wn.2d 123, 580 P.2d 246 (1978), as well as this Court's prior holdings—Ms. Ehrhart's claims were dismissed as time-barred.

This Court should accept review, overturn *Dotson v*. *Pierce Cty.*, 13 Wn. App. 2d 455, 472, 464 P.3d 563, *as amended* (July 8, 2020), and confirm that the discovery rule applies to silently withheld records under the PRA. The *Dotson* framework not only creates a perverse incentive structure—in which

government agencies *benefit* from favorable burden shifting and a "bad faith" standard—when they hide records for over a year, while conversely, the requesters is put in an impossible position. Ms. Ehrhart had no way of knowing she had a cause of action until a year elapsed. The only way to preserve her cause of action would be a blind lawsuit, in violation of CR 11, based upon records she had no idea were withheld at the time. The burden is now on the requester to ferret out secret wrongdoing, and the burden is *off* the agency to be transparent in the first place.

But Division II went even further than that. The County's defense—accepted by Division II—was that the "risk manager" who oversaw records collection did not, herself, do anything wrong:

...there is no evidence that Larsen knowingly chose not to disclose responsive documents, as there was in *Belenski*. Although, in hindsight, it appears that not all responsive documents were disclosed, there is no evidence in the record that Larsen knew that those documents existed at the time she closed the request. Therefore, the response may have been objectively false, but given there is no evidence Larsen knew it was false nor is there any evidence

that Larsen made a deliberate attempt to mislead; it was not deceptive or dishonest for the purposed of equitable tolling.

Op. at 8-9. It was undisputed that the actual records custodians withheld documents. Yet the case was dismissed on summary judgment because Ms. Larsen did not, herself, do anything "deceptive or dishonest." *Id.* By this logic, government can: (a) install a "records manager" who tells everybody to do a good job; (b) ignore whether record-holders are actually producing responsive records to the "records manager"; and (c) if government gets caught, emphasize that the "records manager" had no idea. The actual records holders can, as in this case, say nothing—and win, dispositively, by motion.

These issues are deeply significant—so much so that at least two other cases involving this precise issue are working their way through the appellate courts right now. *See Earl v. City of Tacoma* (Washington Supreme Court No. 101143-1); *Terry Cousins v. State of Washington* (Washington Supreme Court No. 100755-8).

Government is availing itself to the problematic incentive structure erected by *Dotson*. This Court should accept review and consider whether that is consistent with the PRA statute and public interest.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. The County Withholds Hundreds of Documents Responsive to Ms. Ehrhart's Public Records Requests

Following her husband's death, his wife, Sandra, sought answers. On March 24, 2017, Ms. Ehrhart, through counsel, submitted a public records request to King County requesting:

- 1. All records regarding Hantavirus incidents in 2016 or 2017;
- 2. All records in your possession regarding the hazards, dangers, and/or mortality rates of Hantavirus;
- 3. All communications—internal or external—about Hantavirus in 2017;
- 4. All documents reflecting any effort made by King County to make the public aware of Hantavirus in 2017;

¹ Ms. Ehrhart, through counsel, also submitted a public records request to the County in October 2017, which is not at issue in this appeal.

- 5. All documents reflecting any effort made by King County to make the public aware of Hantavirus in any year other than 2017;
- 6. All policies, practices and/or procedures pertaining to public awareness and notification of health hazards;
- 7. All documents reflecting or referring to a duty or obligation on the part of the county to advise the public of health hazards;
- 8. All communications with or about Maureen Waterbury;
- 9. All communications with or about Brian Ehrhart and/or his contraction of Hantavirus:
- 10. All studies, investigations you've performed, or conclusions rendered this year pertaining to Hantavirus or the county's response thereto;
- 11. All statutory claims for damages filed against King County Public Health, pertaining in any way to a public health hazard; and
- 12. All settlement of any claims against King County Public Health pertaining in any way to its response to a public health hazard.

CP 5463-64. The request was routed to "Risk Management," which responded to it outside the normal processes for handling

PRA requests. The County, through Penny Larsen, sought out County employee, Meagan Kay, for guidance about key words and records custodians. CP 108-109; 114-115 (County Dep. Tr. 62:16-63:3; 82:21-83:7)).

This was an odd choice, to be sure. Dr. Kay had open disdain for the grieving family and panicked neighborhood:



CP 120. Furthermore, Dr. Kay "was on scheduled family leave until mid-February. She was not even involved in Hantavirus investigations that occurred before that time..." CP 122. Thus, according to the County, she had nothing to do with the subject matter of the public records request she was now overseeing.

In any event, "three key words" were generated to produce records responsive to the entire request: Brian Ehrhart, Hantavirus, and Maureen Waterbury. CP 104; CP 315. The

custodians were expected to "use their judgment" as to whether records were responsive, and told to err on the side of "over disclosure." CP 105. But there was no tracking system to confirm what they did or withheld. CP 106-107.²

Over the next 4 or 5 months, the records came in several installments, ostensibly completing on **August 7, 2017** when the County informed Ms. Ehrhart that it considered the request closed. CP 254. In total, the County provided 521 documents. CP 5463-64.

B. Ms. Ehrhart Learns Of The Withheld Documents In Belated Responses To Written Discovery—Just After The One-Year Statute Elapsed

Ms. Ehrhart ultimately filed suit on June 21, 2018, and propounded written discovery with the Complaint. Responses were stonewalled and delayed for months, however. During this

² County personnel were not told to search personal devices or computers, despite apparent use of personal Gmail accounts. Nor did anybody check for records held by the Board of Health (the actual governing body) or Patty Hayes (the agency's director). Both were intimately involved with Hantavirus.

time-frame, the County was (1) sanctioned for "bad faith" and "gamesmanship"; (2) compelled to make witnesses available for deposition; and (3) subject to additional discovery sanctions, which the trial court reserved.

The County moved for summary judgment and, on **September 21, 2018**, one business day before the Ehrharts' response was due, the County disclosed roughly 20,000 documents.

This document dump included close to *500 documents* responsive to Ms. Ehrhart's public records requests, produced for the first time. CP 220, ¶ 4(a); CP 5468-78; CP 714-5462. Based on the voluminous documents the County improperly withheld, Ms. Ehrhart promptly amended her Complaint to add a claim for violating Washington's Public Records Act. CP 21-32.

The newly produced documents could not realistically make it into the record, and the trial court ruled on what was previously in front of it. "The court granted partial summary judgment for [Ms.] Ehrhart on the failure to enforce exception

[to the public duty doctrine], 'conditioned on a finding by the jury that [King] County's action was not appropriate.'" *Ehrhart v. King Cty.*, 195 Wn.2d 388, 395–96, 460 P.3d 612 (2020) (quoting Verbatim Transcript of Proceedings (Sept. 28, 2018), at p. 23).

The County moved for, and was granted, discretionary review by the Washington Supreme Court. Given their cruciality to the issues framed before the Court, Ms. Ehrhart tried to offer some documents she belatedly received from the County. The County brought two separate motions to strike them, which this Court granted under RAP 9.12. CP 80-95; CP 96-97.

This Court ultimately reversed Judge Speir and ordered that Ms. Ehrhart's tort claims against the County be dismissed based on the public duty doctrine. *Ehrhart*, 195 Wn.2d at 410.

C. Ms. Ehrhart's Public Records Act Claim is Dismissed On Summary Judgment As Time-Barred

On remand, only Ms. Ehrhart's Public Records Act claim remained. The parties cross-moved for summary judgment. The central issue was whether the one-year statute of limitations for

PRA claims set forth in RCW 42.56.550(6) should be tolled, given that Ms. Ehrhart had no way of knowing the County had, undisputedly, silently withheld close to 500 responsive.

At the summary judgment hearing, the trial court's tolling analysis largely focused on whether the withheld documents would have changed the outcome of the tort case. *See* CP 628 (beginning the hearing: "as I read the Supreme Court ruling, it seemed to me that it wouldn't have made any difference to the Supreme Court..."). Ultimately, it found tolling unavailable for the same reason:

And I'm going to tie that back into this issue that I raised from the beginning, which was the Supreme Court's ruling on the public duty doctrine and finding as a matter of law, and would these documents have made any difference.

Because it has been my personal experience as a judge and coincidentally, King County was the person or entity that had failed to disclose a smoking-gun document, if you will, in another case. And it was evident on the face of that document that that document was damning to the county, and because the public duty doctrine didn't apply....it would have created potentially much greater liability.

So there on it, the face of the document, the Court could find equitable tolling because, you know, it's obvious why the county would not produce the document. If I look at some of these documents...I didn't see anything on the face of any document that would show me that the county was acting in bad faith, had deceived the plaintiff or plaintiff's counsel, or had made any assurances to the plaintiff or plaintiff's counsel....

CP 697-698. Based on the purported absence of a "smoking gun" document that would have changed the tort case, the trial court ruled that Ms. Ehrhart's "failure to file [her] claim within one year from the closing of the first request" dictated "summary judgment to King County on that basis." CP 698-99.

Ms. Ehrhart moved for reconsideration, emphasizing that there was no "smoking gun" standard, and that bad faith in this context is a factual issue when, as here, "a cursory search and delayed disclosure well short of even a generous reading of what is reasonable under the PRA." *See Francis v. Washington State Dep't of Corr.*, 178 Wn. App. 42, 63-64 (2013), as amended on denial of reconsideration (Jan. 22, 2014). Unfortunately, the hearing was largely for naught. The trial court expressed that it

"allowed this to go forward on reconsideration, in part," simply to "clarify [her prior] ruling" granting the County's cross motion for summary judgment. *See* Verbatim Report of Proceedings, 16:16-21.

Ms. Ehrhart timely appealed to Division II, which affirmed the trial court's dismissal, and afterward, denied reconsideration. Ms. Ehrhart now seeks review.

III. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND DECISION BELOW

Petitioner Sandra Ehrhart seeks review of Division II of the Court of Appeals' decision, attached as Appendix A.

IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Whether the discovery rule should apply to silently withheld records under the PRA?
- 2. Alternatively, if *Dotson* applies rather than the discovery rule, should equitable tolling be applied under *Francis* v. Washington State Dep't of Corr., 178 Wn. App. 42, 63-64 (2013), as amended on denial of reconsideration (Jan. 22, 2014) and *Belenski v. Jefferson Cnty.*, 186 Wn.2d 452, 456, 378 P.3d

176 (2016), when a substantial number of records are withheld without explanation (*i.e.*, who has the burden to explain the withholding and who is entitled to favorable inferences).

V. WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

A. Dotson—And By Extension The Decision Below—Conflict With This Court's Holding In U.S. Oil That The Discovery Rule Should Apply When "The Plaintiff Lacks The Means Or Ability To Ascertain That A Wrong Has Been Committed."

The discovery rule reflects Washington courts' "duty to construe and apply limitation statutes in a manner that furthers justice." *U.S. Oil & Ref. Co. v. State Dep't of Ecology*, 96 Wn.2d 85, 93, 633 P.2d 1329, 1334 (1981). Thus, "[i]n determining whether to apply the discovery rule, the possibility of stale claims must be balanced against the unfairness of precluding justified causes of action." *U.S. Oil & Ref. Co.*, 96 Wn.2d at 93.

Unfortunately, relying on its own precedent, *Dotson v*. *Pierce Cnty.*, 13 Wn. App.2d 455, 464 P.3d 563 (2020), Division II refused to apply the discovery rule. It reasoned "the legislature determined that allowing a one-year period to sue following the

closing of a request strikes an appropriate balance between ensuring compliance with the PRA through access to penalties and limiting the amount of PRA litigation." Op. at 12.

This statement is true in the literal sense, but does not answer the relevant question. A requester who, for example, receives a questionable redaction or is advised of a withheld record, certainly can think through her legal rights within a year. But the one-year period is quite irrelevant to a requester like Ms. Ehrhart, who had no idea anything was amiss in the first place (because she was told it was not).

This rationale was illustrated in *U.S. Oil*, when the wrong was a quiet discharge of pollutants into a river. The defendant was under a legal obligation to "self-report," but failed to do so, leaving the plaintiff in the dark. After two years, the plaintiff learned of the discharge and sued for statutory penalties. If the statute of limitations was triggered by the discharge, then the suit was time-barred. But this Court correctly recognized the inequity of that outcome. Such a rule would allow the

corporation to benefit from its own unlawful failure to report the discharge. This Court also recognized the absurdity of assuming that the legislature wanted to bar plaintiffs from bringing suits in circumstances "where the plaintiff lacks the means or ability to ascertain that a wrong has been committed." *U.S. Oil*, 96 Wn.2d at 93. Accordingly, the discovery rule "dictated" that plaintiff's suit was not time barred.

Though cited to Division II, *U.S. Oil* was not even mentioned in the decision. The unstated premise is, seemingly, that the legislative intent was to make government agencies *better off* by silently withholding records in violation of the PRA; and in turn, requesters *worse off* for failing to blindly file a lawsuit within the year, without contemporary knowledge of a wrong being done to them.

Stated plainly, *Dotson* was wrongly decided. This is a context in which the discovery rule is absolutely appropriate—

and in many cases, like this one, the *only* mechanism for a just outcome.³

B. Division II's Novel Approach To Equitable Tolling Is In Direct Conflict With This Court's Decision In Belenski v. Jefferson County

According to the Court of Appeals—although responsive documents were hidden, and although no justification was given—because there was no evidence *that Ms. Larsen knew* about it, there could be no tolling. Op. at 8-9.

This analysis finds no support in any case law or precedent. As juries across the state are correctly instructed, organizations act through their "officers and employees. Any act or omission of an officer or employee is the act or omission of

³ The discovery rule is well-developed, and trial courts can easily weed out claims in which the requester has been dilatory. Wrongdoing on the part of the requester can also be addressed in the penalty phase of the PRA proceeding.

the [organization]." WPI 50.18. This is not limited to the "officers or employees" the defendant hand-picks.⁴

As a matter of both common sense and PRA precedent in which the burden to prove a reasonable search is on the agency—this is wrong. It also defies this Court's prior holdings. In Belenski v. Jefferson Cty., 186 Wn.2d 452 (2016), for example, Jefferson County responded to a public records request for internet access logs by incorrectly stating that it had no responsive records. *Id.* at 455. The requester knew the County's response was inaccurate because he had requested and received internet access logs from the County in the past. Id. It later emerged that the County possessed the records but "mistakenly" believed they did not need to produce them because "they are not 'natively viewable' and would need to be 'pulled out of a database and generated in a human readable format." *Id.* at 455-

⁴ **None** of the 15 custodians, who actually collected the responsive documents, explained or acknowledged the missing records. *See* CP 315-316.

56. The requester brought a PRA claim against the County for failing to produce the requested logs.

This Court held that the action was technically untimely (especially since the requestor already had some of the wrongfully unproduced documents) but remanded for the trial court to determine whether tolling should apply:

... allowing the statute of limitations to run based on an agency's dishonest response could incentivize agencies to intentionally withhold information and then avoid liability due to the expiration of the statute of limitations... such an incentive could be contrary to the broad disclosure mandates of the PRA and may be fundamentally unfair in certain circumstances

Id. at 461-62 (emphasis added).

This is exactly the point, here. A "dishonest response" ("mistaken" or otherwise), leading to withholding, can factually support equitable tolling under *Belenski*—as it should. Allowing public agencies to avoid liability by waiting out the one-year statute only incentivizes the exact conduct the PRA seeks to prohibit. *See Progressive Animal Welfare Soc. v. Univ. of*

Washington, 125 Wn.2d 243, 270, 884 P.2d 592 (1994) ("The Public Records Act clearly and emphatically prohibits silent withholding by agencies of records relevant to a public records request.").

Indeed, *Belenski* and the decision below cannot coexist. In *Belenski*, the action was remanded to the trial court to determine whether equitable tolling should apply—even though the plaintiff knew about the problem from the beginning. Here, Ms. Ehrhart had no idea that the County had silently withheld nearly half of the responsive documents, yet her claims were dismissed as a matter of law. If anything, the reasoning of *Belenski* applies perforce to our case. The lack of diligence that gave the Court pause in *Belenski* is simply not present here.

At a minimum, Ms. Ehrhart demonstrated a factual issue.

C. The Decision Below Is Also Inconsistent With Division II's Own Precedent

In Francis v. Washington State Dep't of Corr., 178 Wn. App. 42, 313 P.3d 457 (2013), bad faith was found when an agency spent 15 minutes searching for records and failed to

search all of its records storage locations. In so holding, the Court emphasized that an agency must have reasonable procedures in place and prove that it complied with them in a reasonable manner. *Id.* at 62.

In our case, the County offered no evidence of compliance by any of the more than a dozen records custodians. It, again, limited its analysis to a single "risk management" employee, who told everybody to do a good job and assumed they did so (when they, undisputedly, did not). This reasoning of course renders *Francis* a nullity; as now an agency can simply point to a records manager—who is perhaps blissfully ignorant and, like Ms. Larsen, uninvolved in the actual searching—while immunizing any degree of wrongdoing by the custodians. Division II's decision below holds that this is a *dispositive* defense to a PRA action.

Suffice to say, this is antithetical to the PRA and poor public policy. The burden should be on government to be honest

and transparent; not on widows like Ms. Ehrhart to sleuth out the wrongdoing, and then prove an evil motive.

Francis, if nothing else, holds that the benefit of question goes to the requester, not government. "Absent any countervailing evidence showing justification... shows that the [responding agency] did not act in good faith[.]" *Id.* at 64. The agency should not profit by its failure to explain its own failures. The issue should have been resolved in Ms. Ehrhart's favor; or at a minimum, resolved as a factual issue at trial.

D. This Is An Issue Of Substantial Public Importance

In a time of unprecedented distrust of public institutions, including and especially Public Health, allowing them to hide documents and operate in secrecy only exacerbates the divide. Sunlight is the best disinfectant, *Cogan v. Kidder, Mathews & Segner, Inc.*, 97 Wash.2d 658, 663, 648 P.2d 875 (1982) (quoting L. Brandeis, Other People's Money, ch. 15 (1914)), and that is precisely why the PRA exists. *See Doe ex rel. Roe v. Washington State Patrol*, 185 Wn.2d 363, 371, 374 P.3d 63, 66 (2016) ("The

PRA's primary purpose is to foster governmental transparency and accountability by making public records available to Washington's citizens.") (citing *City of Lakewood v. Koenig,* 182 Wash.2d 87, 93, 343 P.3d 335 (2014)). The statute itself directs that it be "liberally construed and its exemptions narrowly construed... to assure that the public interest will be fully protected." RCW 42.56.030. Courts therefore start with a presumption in favor of disclosure, not withholding. *See id.* ("affirmative duty").

There is nothing about a reward system for silent withholding, followed by a proceeding in which the burden of proof to show "bad faith" is on the requester, that tracks these principles. Moreover, people respond to incentives. And the structure created by *Dotson*, in which agencies benefit from silent withholding, will invariably lead good officials act less good; and bad officials to act worse.

This issue is not going away, see Earl v. City of Tacoma (Washington Supreme Court No. 101143-1); Terry Cousins v.

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