FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
11/28/2022 4:40 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 101413-9

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SANDRA EHRHART, individually and as personal representative of the Estate of Brian Ehrhart,

Appellant,

v.

KING COUNTY, operating through its health department, Public Health – Seattle & King County,

Respondent.

KING COUNTY'S RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

PACIFICA LAW GROUP LLP
Paul J. Lawrence, WSBA #13557
Kymberly K. Evanson, WSBA #39973
Special Deputy Prosecuting Attorneys
1191 Second Avenue, Suite 2000
Seattle, WA 98101
206-245-1700

Attorneys for Respondent King County

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

IV. ARGUMENT

Ehrhart's Petition should be denied. The Decision is consistent with numerous prior decisions of this Court and the Court of Appeals. Ehrhart's objections to the PRA statute of limitations have been addressed by this and other courts, and do

not present a conflict of law or issue of substantial public interest to warrant this Court's review. *See* RAP 13.4(b)(3).

A. Ehrhart's Petition Fails to Present a Conflict Under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or RAP 13.4(b)(2).

Ehrhart does not identify the basis on which she seeks review under RAP 13.4(b). The Supreme Court may accept a petition for review if the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of this Court or with a published opinion of the Court of Appeals. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2). Ehrhart, however, does not identify any conflict between the Decision in this matter and the primary cases on which her petition relies— Dotson, U.S. Oil, and Belenski. Instead, Ehrhart generally objects to the universe of well-settled PRA case law, claiming that numerous decisions run counter to her view of the PRA's purpose. Ehrhart's general disagreement about PRA policy does not undermine the Court of Appeals' well-reasoned ruling. Moreover, Ehrhart's failure to adequately brief any conflict argument waives it. Pet. at 13; Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v. Bosley, 118 Wn.2d 801, 809, 828 P.2d 549 (1992) (the court

need not consider arguments that are not developed); *see also* RAP 10.3(a)(6). As detailed below, the Court of Appeals correctly applied well-settled precedent to hold that Ehrhart's claims are untimely, and neither the discovery rule nor equitable tolling apply.

1. The Discovery Rule does not apply to the PRA.

The PRA is subject to a strict one-year statute of limitations. RCW 42.56.550(6); *Belenski v. Jefferson Cnty.*, 186 Wn.2d 452, 460-61, 378 P.3d 176 (2016) (one-year statute of limitations applies to "all possible responses under the PRA"); *Klinkert v. Washington State Criminal Justice Training Comm'n*, 185 Wn. App. 832, 837, 342 P.3d 1198, 1200 (2015). Where, as in the PRA, the legislature has identified a triggering event for the accrual of a cause of action, the discovery rule does not apply. *Dotson v. Pierce Cty.*, 13 Wn. App. 2d 455, 472, 464 P.3d 563, *as amended* (July 8, 2020) (citing RCW 42.56.550(6)); *Belenski v. Jefferson Cnty.*, 186 Wn.2d at 461. The Court of Appeals properly rejected Ehrhart's request to

depart from this well-established precedent.

Ehrhart does not and cannot argue that the Decision conflicts with a published decision of the Supreme Court or Court of Appeals. Instead, Ehrhart argues that a published decision of the Court of Appeals in another case—*Dotson*—conflicts with a 40-year-old decision of this Court—*U.S. Oil*. This manufactured conflict between two *other cases* is not a basis for review under RAP 13.4(b).

Regardless, Ehrhart's disagreement with the holding of *Dotson* does not present grounds for review under either RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (2). *Dotson* and *U.S. Oil* do not conflict. Both cases state that under the discovery rule, the statute of limitations begins to run when a plaintiff should have discovered a cause of action. *Dotson*, 13 Wn. App. 2d at 472; *U.S. Oil*, 96 Wn.2d at 92. The statute providing for penalties for unlawful waste discharges in *U.S. Oil*, RCW 90.48.144, did not contain its own statute of limitations. *U.S. Oil*, 96 Wn.2d at 87. Instead, the RCW 4.16.100(2) general two-year statute of

limitations for statutory penalties applied. *Id.* There, the Supreme Court held that the discovery rule applied to penalties under RCW 90.48.144. *Id.* at 94.

Consistent with U.S. Oil, Dotson states that the "discovery rule generally applies in cases where 'the statute does not specify a time at which the cause of action accrues."" Dotson, 13 Wn. App. 2d at 472 (quoting Douchette v. Bethel School Dist. No. 403, 117 Wn.2d 805, 813, 818 P.2d 1362 (1991)). The unlawful waste discharge statute in U.S. Oil did not specify when the cause of action accrued. The PRA, on the other hand, does specify when a PRA cause of action accrues. Id (citing RCW 42.56.550(6)); Belenski v. Jefferson Cnty., 186 Wn.2d 452, 461, 378 P.3d 176 (2016). Accordingly, *Dotson* held that the discovery rule does not apply to PRA cases because the PRA identifies a clear triggering event for the statute of limitations. *Dotson*, 13 Wn. App. 2d at 472; Opinion at 11. Nothing in *U.S. Oil* undermines this holding.

Because *Dotson* and associated PRA case law control, the Court of Appeals correctly held that the discovery rule does not apply to salvage Ehrhart's PRA claim.

2. Equitable tolling does not apply.

The Court of Appeals also properly held that equitable tolling does not save Ehrhart's untimely claims because Ehrhart failed to provide any evidence of bad faith, deception or false assurances by King County. Opinion at 11. Specifically, the Court of Appeals held that Ehrhart failed to muster any evidence that King County's public records officer, Penny Larsen, acted in bad faith or made false assurances when she timely produced hundreds of records in response to Ehrhart's request. Opinion at 10-11. As detailed in the Decision, substantial Washington authority holds that equitable tolling does not apply in the absence of bad faith, deception, or false assurances. False assurances requires a showing of a deliberate attempt to mislead. Price v. Gonzalez, 4 Wn. App. 2d 67, 76, 419 P.3d 858 (2018); Opinion at 9. As with the discovery rule,

Ehrhart again fails to identify any conflicting authority warranting review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (2) on this point.

Rather than identify a conflict between the Decision and any published decision of this Court or the Court of Appeals on the issue of equitable tolling, Ehrhart merely re-argues the merits of her unsuccessful appeal. Specifically, Ehrhart claims that Ms. Larsen's lack of knowledge regarding any allegedly omitted documents is not determinative because an organization's actions are not limited to the actions of the employee that the organization selects. Pet. at 16-17. But this argument ignores that it is *Ehrhart's burden* to show "false assurances" or "deception" in order to establish equitable tolling. Opinion at 11 (burden to show King County acted in bad faith, as necessary for the court to apply equitable tolling, is on Ehrhart). Ms. Larsen's account of the search, in a declaration and in her deposition, establishes King County's burden on summary judgment to prove that the search was adequate. See Block v. City of Gold Bar, 189 Wn. App. 262,

271, 355 P.3d 266 (2015) (to establish search was adequate, agency may rely on reasonably detailed, nonconclusory affidavits). The Court of Appeals reviewed the record *de novo*, and rightly determined that Ehrhart offered nothing to rebut the County's showing. Opinion at 10 ("Here, Ehrhart has not shown that King County disregarded its procedures or performed a mere cursory search, as in *Francis*. King County presented ample evidence" of its adequate search); Opinion at 11 ("Ehrhart failed to establish that King County responded to her March 2017 PRA request in bad faith or engaged in deception or false assurance in a deliberate attempt to mislead.").

Contrary to Ehrhart's unfounded accusations, the record is devoid of any evidence that "responsive documents were hidden." Pet. at 16. Though throughout this litigation Ehrhart has attempted to impugn the credibility of County employees, claiming misconduct and improper motives, Ehrhart never made any efforts to substantiate her claims. Ehrhart did not

depose any records custodians (beyond Ms. Larsen), or take any other discovery in the PRA matter, although she could have done so. Ehrhart cannot now rely on her own failure to develop the record to argue that Ms. Larsen's testimony is not determinative of bad faith for equitable tolling purposes.³

Because the record contains no evidence of intentional withholding, the Court of Appeals rightly held that Ehrhart's reliance on *Belenski v. Jefferson Cty.*, 186 Wn.2d 452 (2016) is misplaced. Pet. at 17. Ehrhart omits the key reason why the *Belenski* court remanded the issue of equitable tolling. In *Belenski*, the government agency mistakenly believed it did not need to disclose certain documents, and knowingly withheld those documents. The court held that the knowing withholding was dishonest and remanded to determine whether equitable tolling of the statute of limitations should be applied. *Belenski*,

³ Though in her Petition Ehrhart now claims there are fact issues for trial, Pet. at 21, as the Court of Appeals observed, Ehrhart moved for summary judgment below. CP 45-73.

186 Wn.2d at 461. Here, there is nothing in the record that supports Ehrhart's allegations of "silent withholding" and no evidence of any wrongful conduct, let alone any intentional conduct, false assurances or deception. The Decision is consistent with *Belenski* and no conflict supports review.⁴

In an additional attempt to contrive a conflict, Ehrhart strains to equate the thorough records search that King County conducted to the cursory 15-minute search in *Francis v*.

Washington State Dep't of Corr., 178 Wn. App. 42, 313 P.3d 457 (2013); Pet. at 19. The Decision does not conflict with *Francis*.

⁴ The Decision is also consistent with multiple other decisions of the Court of Appeals rejecting the same argument the Estate makes here. It is well-established that in the PRA context, the production of "records that the agency previously claimed it did not possess . . . without more" is "not sufficient to toll the running of the statute of limitations." *Strickland v. Pierce Cty.*, 2 Wn. App. 2d 1018, 2018 WL 582446, at *5 (Wash. Ct. App. Jan. 29, 2018) (unpublished); *see also Zellmer v. Dep't of Labor and Indus.*, No. 53627-7-II, 2020 WL 5537007, at *5 (Wash. Ct. App. Sept. 15, 2020) (unpublished); *Wolfe v. Wash. State Dep't of Transp.*, No. 50894-0-II, 2019 WL 1999020, at *5-6 (Wash. Ct. App. May 7, 2019) (unpublished).

As the Court of Appeals notes, "like Belenski, Francis is distinguishable." Opinion at 10. The record is replete with evidence that unlike the search in *Francis*, the search here was comprehensive. *Id.* (detailing King County's "ample evidence" of "more than a cursory search", including frequent contact with requester, identifying multiple custodians, producing multiple installments of records and following County policies). The mere fact that the County primarily demonstrates the adequacy of its search through a declaration and deposition of one individual, the request manager Ms. Larsen, does not call the records search into question. See Pet. at 20. Moreover, Ehrhart is wrong that no records custodians provided declarations. Pet. at 17, note 4. Specifically, Dr. Kay also provided a detailed declaration, explaining her own search process and discussing several records Ehrhart claimed to have been withheld. CP 465-68. In short, Ehrhart fails to address the many distinctions between *Francis* and the present case and

the Court of Appeals was correct to reject the comparison out of hand.

Because the Decision properly applied well-settled law on equitable tolling and Ehrhart does not identify any conflicting authority, review is not warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (2).

B. Ehrhart Also Fails to Raise an Issue of Substantial Public Interest.

Gutting the Legislature's statute of limitations for the PRA serves no legitimate public interest. As the Court of Appeals correctly concluded: 1) "application of the discovery rule here would erode [the] legislative decision" to allow a one-year period to sue following the close of a request; and 2) "when a plaintiff can actually make a showing of bad faith, the cause of action may still be pursued under the doctrine of equitable tolling." Opinion at 12. The Legislature determined that a one-year statute of limitations "strikes an appropriate balance between ensuring compliance with the PRA through access to penalties and limiting the amount of PRA litigation."

Id. As such, the statute has been strictly applied. See White v. City of Lakewood, 194 Wn. App. 778, 783-84, 374 P.3d 286 (2016) (PRA claim filed one day after the expiration of the statute of limitations was time-barred); Bartz v. State Dep't of Corrections Pub. Disclosure Unit, 173 Wn. App. 522, 535, 297 P.3d 737 (2013) (rejecting claim that statute of limitations should be "narrowly confined to ensure that persons get timely and appropriate responses to their requests") (internal quotations omitted)).

Ehrhart fails to identify any public interest in departing from this authority. Moreover, adopting Ehrhart's argument would result in an exception that swallows the rule: as most cases in which the statute of limitations is at issue involve some number of allegedly responsive documents discovered after the limitations period has run. And every court to consider this scenario has ruled that such a discovery is insufficient to toll the statute. *Dotson*, 13 Wn. App. 2d 455; *Zellmer*, 2020 WL

5537007, at *5; *Wolfe*, 2019 WL 1999020, at *5-6; *Strickland*, 2018 WL 582446, at *5.

The fact that other cases are considering similar issues does not create an issue of substantial public importance. Pet. at 22. In fact, in the case Ehrhart cites to contrive an issue of public interest, Earl v. City of Tacoma (Washington Supreme Court No. 101143-1), the court decided the PRA statute of limitations issue consistently with the Decision in this case. Earl v. City of Tacoma, No. 56160-3-II, 2022 WL 2679522 (Wash. Ct. App. July 12, 2022). ("Following *Dotson*, we hold that the discovery rule does not apply to PRA actions because the legislature has clearly specified the event that starts the running of the limitations period in RCW 42.56.550(6)[.]"); Pet. at 22. In *Earl*, a document produced in a 2018 federal lawsuit was not disclosed to the plaintiff in the plaintiff's PRA request that closed in 2016. *Earl*, 2022 WL 2679522, at *3. The Court held that the PRA claims were untimely and not saved by either the discovery rule or equitable tolling. *Id.* at *8-9.

Accordingly, Ehrhart's own cited case demonstrates that the issues in this case are settled and do not present an issue of public interest.

In sum, no issue of public interest exists to warrant review.

V. CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated herein, King County respectfully requests the Petition be denied.

This document contains 4,684 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.